



SPONSOR: Sen. Walsh & Sen. Townsend & Rep. Baumbach &
Rep. Longhurst
Sens. Pettyjohn, Richardson, Sokola; Reps. Briggs King,
Mitchell, D. Short, Yearick

DELAWARE STATE SENATE
151st GENERAL ASSEMBLY

SENATE BILL NO. 317

AN ACT TO AMEND TITLE 9, TITLE 16, TITLE 25, AND TITLE 29 OF THE DELAWARE CODE RELATING TO
MANUFACTURED HOME COMMUNITIES.

BE IT ENACTED BY THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE STATE OF DELAWARE:

1 Section 1. Amend § 7003, Title 25 of the Delaware Code by making deletions as shown by strike through and
2 insertions as shown by underline as follows and redesignating accordingly:

3 § 7003. Definitions.

4 ~~Unless otherwise expressly stated, if a word or term is not defined under this section, it has its ordinarily accepted~~
5 ~~meaning or means what the context implies.~~ For purposes of this chapter:

6 (2) “Authority” or “DEMhRA” means the Delaware Manufactured Home Relocation Authority.

7 (5) “CPI-U” means the Consumer Price Index for All Urban Consumers in the Philadelphia-Camden-
8 Wilmington region.

9 (14) “Market rent” means that rent which would result from market forces absent an unequal bargaining
10 position between the community owner and the homeowners. In determining market rent, relevant considerations
11 include rents charged to recent new homeowners entering the subject manufactured home community or by
12 comparable manufactured home communities, or both. To be comparable, a manufactured home community must be
13 within the competitive area and must offer similar facilities, services, amenities, and management.

14 Section 2. Amend § 7051, Title 25 of the Delaware Code by making deletions as shown by strike through and
15 insertions as shown by underline as follows:

16 § 7051. Rent increase; notice.

17 (a) ~~A landlord~~ community owner may not increase a tenant’s lot rent more than once during any 12-month period,
18 regardless of the term of the tenancy or the term of the rental agreement.

19 (b) A community owner may only increase rent if the rent increase complies with all of the following:

20 (1) Any lease provision providing for a specific amount of rent for a specific period of time.

21 (2) The applicable requirements of this chapter.

22 (c)(1) A community owner must provide written notice of a rent increase at least 90 days, but no more than 120
23 days, before the first day the increased amount of rent is due, to all of the following:

24 a. Each affected homeowner.

25 b. The homeowners' association, if 1 exists.

26 c. DEMHRA.

27 (2) The notice under paragraph (c)(1) of this section must identify all affected homeowners by lot number, name,
28 group, or phase. If the affected homeowners are not identified by name, the community owner shall make the names and
29 addresses available, upon request, to any affected homeowner, homeowners' association, or DEMHRA.

30 Section 3. Amend § 7052, Title 25 of the Delaware Code by making deletions as shown by strike through and
31 insertions as shown by underline as follows and redesignating accordingly:

32 § 7052. Rent ~~justification~~ justification; when § 7052A and § 7052B of Title 25 do not apply.

33 (a)(1) This section applies to rent increases for all single-year and for all multiple-year leases entered into or
34 renewed upon expiration of a prior lease after November 30, 2013, if notice of a rent increase was provided before [the
35 effective date of this Act].

36 (2) This section also applies to a lease when notice of a rent increase is provided on or after [the date 5 years
37 after the effective date of this Act], if § 7052A of this title does not apply.

38 (b) A community owner may raise a homeowner's rent for any and all 12-month periods governed by the rental
39 agreement in an amount greater than the average annual increase of the ~~Consumer Price Index For All Urban Consumers in~~
40 the Philadelphia-Wilmington-Atlantic City area (CPI-U²) CPI-U for the most recently available preceding 36-month
41 period, provided the community owner can demonstrate the increase is justified for all of the following conditions:

42 (1) The community owner, during the preceding 12-month period, has not been found in violation of any
43 provision of this chapter that threatens the health or safety of the residents, visitors, or guests that persists for more than
44 15 days, beginning from the day the community owner received notice of such violation.

45 (2) The proposed rent increase is directly related to operating, maintaining, or improving the manufactured
46 home community, and justified by 1 or more factors listed under subsection ~~(e)~~ (d) of this section.

47 ~~(b)~~ (c) The Delaware State Housing Authority shall monitor the CPI-U and report to the Authority findings and
48 recommendations relevant to the cost of rent in manufactured home communities in Delaware.

49 ~~(e)~~ (d) One or more of the following factors may justify the increase of rent in an amount greater than the CPI-U:

50 (1) The completion and cost of any capital improvements or rehabilitation work in the manufactured home
51 community, as distinguished from ordinary repair, replacement, and maintenance.

- 52 (2) Changes in property taxes or other taxes within the manufactured home community.
53 (3) Changes in utility charges within the manufactured home community.
54 (4) Changes in insurance costs and financing associated with the manufactured home community.
55 (5) Changes in reasonable operating and maintenance expenses relating to the manufactured home community
56 including costs for water service; sewer service; septic service; water disposal; trash collection; and employees.

57 (6) The need for repairs caused by circumstances other than ordinary wear and tear in the manufactured home
58 community.

59 (7) Market rent. — ~~For purposes of this section, market rent” means that rent which would result from market~~
60 ~~forces absent an unequal bargaining position between the community owner and the homeowners. In determining~~
61 ~~market rent relevant considerations include rents charged to recent new homeowners entering the subject manufactured~~
62 ~~home community and/or by comparable manufactured home communities. To be comparable, a manufactured home~~
63 ~~community must be within the competitive area and must offer similar facilities, services, amenities, and management.~~
64 [Transferred to § 7003 of Title 25.]

65 (8) The amount of rental assistance provided by the community owner to the homeowners under § 7022 of
66 this title.

67 ~~(d)~~ (e) A community owner shall not incorporate the cost of a civil penalty, criminal fine, or litigation-related costs
68 for rent-related proceedings into rent charged under any circumstance. A community owner also shall not utilize as
69 justification for any future rental increase the cost of capital improvements or rehabilitation work, once that cost has been
70 fully recovered by rental increases that were incorporated into a prior rental increase in excess of CPI-U, where the prior
71 rental increase was properly implemented under this subchapter.

72 Section 4. Amend Subchapter VI, Chapter 70, Title 25 of the Delaware Code by making deletions as shown by
73 strike through and insertions as shown by underline as follows:

74 § 7051A. Rent increase; health or safety violations.

75 (a) For purposes of this section,

76 (1) “Escrow account” means an account with an FDIC-insured financial institution in an arrangement that
77 requires that the financial institution hold the escrowed funds for the purpose of payment due to homeowners under this
78 section.

79 (2)a. “Health or safety violation” or “violation” means a decision that contains a finding of fact or conclusion
80 of law by any court, administrative agency, county, or municipality that a violation of a requirement under this chapter

81 or federal, state, or county law exists and threatens the health or safety of the residents, visitors, or guests of the
82 manufactured home community.

83 b. A violation is deemed to have started on the date that the violation is final. A violation is final if the
84 decision finding the violation has been fully determined on appeal to the appropriate court, if all time for filing an
85 appeal with respect to the decision has expired, or the decision is not subject to judicial review.

86 (3) "Total rent increase" means the difference in the amount of rent that a homeowner will owe in 1 year
87 under the increased amount of rent in a notice under § 7051 of this title and the amount of rent the homeowner would
88 owe in 1 year without the rent increase.

89 (b) A community owner may only increase rent under §§ 7052A or 7052B of this title if 1 of the following apply:

90 (1) During the 12 months preceding the date of the notice of the rent increase, there has not been a health or
91 safety violation in the manufactured home community that continued for 15 or more consecutive days.

92 (2) The community owner complies with subsection (c) of this section.

93 (c) A community owner may increase rent if the condition that constitutes the violation under subsection (a) of this
94 section is not corrected if the community owner complies with all of the following:

95 (1) Provides DEMHRA with all of the following before sending the notice of the rent increase:

96 a. A surety bond or a letter of credit as follows:

97 1. If the community owner provides a surety bond, the surety bond must be from an admitted carrier
98 that is licensed in Delaware and has a rating from AM Best of A or better.

99 2. If the community owner provides a letter of credit, the letter of credit must be from an FDIC-
100 insured financial institution.

101 3. The surety bond or letter of credit must be all of the following:

102 A. Payable to the Delaware Manufactured Home Relocation Authority.

103 B. In an amount sufficient to fund 100% of the total rent increase for all affected homeowners.

104 C. Contains the purpose of securing that the community owner will correct the violation by a
105 specified date. For purposes of this section, the date by which the violation is corrected cannot be later
106 than 1 year after the date of the violation.

107 b. A list that includes all of the following:

108 1. The name of each affected homeowner and the total rent increase for each homeowner.

109 2. The mailing address of each affected homeowner.

110 3. The total rent increase for all affected homeowners.

111 c. Written documentation of how the violation will be corrected.

112 (2) Sends a copy of the documents required under paragraph (c)(1) of this section with the notice of the rent
113 increase and to the Delaware Manufactured Home Owners Association and the Department of Justice.

114 (d) If a community owner increases rent under subsection (c) of this section and provides documentation to
115 DEMhRA that the violation has been corrected by the date under paragraph (c)(1)a.3.C. of this section, DEMhRA shall
116 cancel and surrender the surety bond or letter of credit to the community owner and the liability upon the surety bond or
117 letter of credit is discharged.

118 (e) If a community owner increases rent under subsection (c) of this section and does not provide documentation to
119 DEMhRA that the violation has been corrected by the date under paragraph (c)(1)a.3.C. of this section, the rent increase
120 does not take effect and DEMhRA shall do all of the following:

121 (1) Make a claim on the surety bond or draw on the letter of credit.

122 (2) Deposit the funds from the surety bond or letter of credit in an escrow account.

123 (3) Within 30 days of the date under paragraph (c)(1)a.3.C. of this section, send each affected homeowner the
124 amount of the total rent increase as provided under paragraph (c)(1)b.1. of this section.

125 (f) DEMhRA may promulgate regulations necessary to implement this section.

126 (g) The Superior Court has jurisdiction over disputes under this section.

127 § 7052A. Rent increase; justified base rent increase calculations.

128 (a)(1) This section applies to a lease when notice of a rent increase is provided on or after [the effective date of this
129 Act] until [the date 5 years after the effective date of this Act].

130 (2) Any of the following may continue beyond [the date 5 years after the effective date of this Act]:

131 a. A phased rent increase in effect under paragraph (d)(3) of this section.

132 b. An agreement under paragraph (b)(1)c. of this section.

133 (3) After [the date 5 years after the effective date of this Act], this section continues to apply to rent increased
134 under this section, including an additional rent increase under § 7052B of this title, until the end of the period for the
135 rent increase.

136 (b)(1) If a community owner is in compliance with § 7051A of this title, a community owner may increase rent
137 under 1 of the following:

138 a. Paragraph (c)(2) of this section, based on the CPI-U.

139 b. Subsection (d) of this section, based on the market rent.

140 c. Notwithstanding subsections (c) and (d) of this section, a community owner and a homeowner may,
141 under a separate written agreement, mutually agree to a rent increase effective for longer than 1 calendar year.

142 (2) In addition to a rent increase under paragraph (b)(1) of this section, a community owner may increase rent
143 under § 7052B of this title, if the community owner includes a written reservation of rights as follows:

144 a. In the notice for a rent increase under paragraph (c)(2) or subsection (d) of this section.

145 b. In the agreement to a rent increase under paragraph (b)(1)c. of this section.

146 (c)(1)a. For purposes of this section, “24-month CPI-U” means the average annual increase of the CPI-U for the
147 most recently available preceding 24-month period.

148 b. The Delaware State Housing Authority shall monitor updates to the CPI-U and within 5 days after new
149 CPI-U data is released, calculate the 24-month CPI-U and report the 24-month CPI-U to DEMHRA.

150 (2) A community owner may increase rent in an amount that does not exceed the following:

151 a. If the 24-month CPI-U is equal to or below 7%, by 3.5% of the rent plus 50% of the 24-month CPI-U
152 up to an amount that does not exceed 7% of the 24-month CPI-U.

153 b. If the 24-month CPI-U exceeds 7%, by the 24-month CPI-U.

154 (3)a. Before providing notice of a rent increase under this subsection (c), a community must receive
155 certification from DEMHRA that the rent increase is in compliance with paragraph (c)(2) of this section, as follows:

156 1. At least 20 days before providing notice of the rent increase, a community owner must submit
157 written notice of this rent increase to DEMHRA and the Consumer Protection Division of the Department of
158 Justice.

159 2. Within 10 days of receiving the notice under paragraph (c)(3)a.1. of this section, DEMHRA shall
160 provide a written reply to the community owner that either provides certification that the proposed rent
161 increase complies with paragraph (c)(2) of this section or states that the proposed rent increase cannot be
162 certified.

163 b. A community owner must provide a copy of the certification under paragraph (c)(3)a.2. of this section
164 with the notice of the rent increase.

165 c. If DEMHRA does not provide certification under paragraph (c)(3)a.2. of this section, a community
166 owner must submit a new notice under paragraph (c)(3)a.1. of this section before increasing rent under this
167 subsection (c).

168 (4) The Superior Court has jurisdiction over disputes under this subsection (c).

169 (d)(1) A community owner may increase rent to bring the amount of rent to a market rent.

170 (2) Section 7053 of this title applies to a rent increase under this subsection (d).

171 (3) A rent increase under this subsection (d) must be phased in equally as follows:

172 a. Over 7 years, if the increase under paragraph (d)(1) of this section is an amount that equals 50% or less
173 of the rent on the date of the notice of the rent increase.

174 b. Over 10 years, if the increase under paragraph (d)(1) of this section is an amount that equals more than
175 50% of the rent on the date of the notice of the rent increase.

176 § 7052B. Rent increase; justified additional rent increase for allowed expenses.

177 (a)(1) A community owner may increase rent under this section, in addition to a rent increase under § 7052A of
178 this title, if the community owner is in compliance with all of the following:

179 (1) Sections 7051A and 7052A(b)(2) of this title.

180 (2) In the notice of the rent increase, the community owner explains that the community owner is providing
181 written documentation of the actual cost of each of the allowed expenses by doing all of the following:

182 a. Providing a website where the documentation may be accessed and downloaded.

183 b. Making paper copies available for review in the manufactured home community’s management office.

184 c. Upon request of a homeowner, providing paper copies of the documentation at no cost.

185 (b) For purposes of this section:

186 (1) “Additional rent increase” means a rent increase under this section, that is in addition to the base rent
187 increase.

188 (2) “Aggregate total of allowed expenses” means the total dollar amount of all of the allowed expenses for the
189 manufactured home community for a 12-month period.

190 (3) “Allowed expenses” mean all of the following for the manufactured home community:

191 a. Taxes.

192 b. Insurance.

193 c. Utility charges or service.

194 d. Onsite employee costs, such as benefits and employment taxes, but not salaries or wages.

195 (4) “Anniversary date” means the date of the most recent base rent increase.

196 (5) “Base rent increase” means a rent increase under § 7052A of this title.

197 (6) “Increase of the aggregate total of allowed expenses” means the difference between the aggregate total of
198 allowed expenses for the previous 12-month period and the aggregate total of allowed expenses for the prior 12-month
199 period.

200 (7) “Onsite employee” means an employee whose primary job responsibilities are directly related to the
201 operation and management of the manufactured home community.

202 (8) “Previous 12-month period” means the most recent 12 months before the notice of the rent increase under
203 this section.

204 (9) “Prior 12-month period” means the most recent 12 months before the beginning of the previous 12-month
205 period.

206 (10) “24-month CPI-U” means the 24-month CPI-U as calculated under § 7052A(c)(1) of this title.

207 (c) If a community owner is increasing rent under § 7052A(c)(2) of this title, the community owner may include
208 an additional rent increase if the increase of the aggregate total of allowed expenses increased by a percentage that is larger
209 than the 24-month CPI-U.

210 (d) On or after the second anniversary date of the base rent increase under §§ 7052A(b)(1)c. or 7052A(d) of this
211 title, the community owner may add an additional rent increase if the increase of the aggregate total of allowed expenses
212 increased by a percentage that is larger than the 24-month CPI-U.

213 (e) An additional rent increase is calculated by dividing the increase of the aggregate total of the allowed expenses
214 by the number of recorded lots in the manufactured housing community and adding that sum to the base rent increase under
215 § 7052A of this title.

216 Section 5. Amend § 7053, Title 25 of the Delaware Code by making deletions as shown by strike through and
217 insertions as shown by underline as follows and redesignating accordingly:

218 § 7053. Rent increase dispute resolution.

219 (a)(1) ~~A community owner shall give written notice to each affected homeowner and to the homeowners’~~
220 ~~association, if one exists, and to the Delaware Manufactured Home Relocation Authority (“Authority”), at least 90 days~~
221 ~~prior to any increase in rent. The notice shall identify all affected homeowners by lot number, name, group, or phase. If the~~
222 ~~affected homeowners are not identified by name, the community owner shall make the names and addresses available to~~
223 ~~any affected homeowner, homeowners’ association, and the Authority, upon request. This section applies to rent increases~~
224 ~~under §§ 7052, 7052A(d), and 7052B of this title.~~

225 (2) The Authority must maintain a form final meeting notice that includes all of the following:

226 a. The deadline to request arbitration under subsection (f) of this section.

227 b. A statement that an informal meeting under subsection (e) of this section does not affect, in any way,
228 the date by which arbitration must be requested under subsection (f) of this section.

229 (3) The written notice under ~~this subsection (a)~~ § 7051 of this title must contain all of the following:

- 230 a. The approved date, time, and place for the final meeting required under subsection (b) of this section.
231 b. The form language maintained by the Authority under paragraph (a)(2) of this section.

232 (j) The arbitrator will render a decision employing the standards under ~~§ 7052 of this title.~~ the requirements of the
233 section under which the rent increase is proposed.

234 (k) The arbitrator will render a written decision within 15 days of the conclusion of the arbitration hearing.

235 Section 6. Amend § 7054, Title 25 of the Delaware Code by making deletions as shown by strike through and
236 insertions as shown by underline as follows

237 § 7054. Appeal.

238 The community owner, the homeowners' association, or any affected homeowner may appeal the decision of the
239 arbitrator under § 7053(k) of this title, within 30 days of the date of issuance of the arbitrator's decision. The appeal shall be
240 to the Superior Court in the county of the affected community. The appeal shall be on the record and the Court shall address
241 written and/or oral arguments of the parties as to whether the record created in the arbitration is sufficient justification for
242 the arbitrator's decisions and whether those decisions are free from legal error.

243 Section 7. Amend Subchapter II, Chapter 70, Title 25 of the Delaware Code by making deletions as shown by
244 strike through and insertions as shown by underline as follows:

245 § 7022. Lot ~~Rental Assistance Program.~~ rental assistance program; eligibility.

246 (a) A homeowner ~~or tenant~~ in a manufactured home community who is eligible for Social Security Disability
247 (SSD) or Supplemental Security Income (SSI) benefits or who is 62 years of age or older is eligible for lot rental assistance
248 from the manufactured home community owner if the homeowner ~~or tenant~~ meets all of the following criteria:

249 (1) The homeowner ~~or tenant~~ must have owned the manufactured home or resided in the home in the
250 manufactured home community ~~prior to July 1, 2006.~~ for the 5 consecutive years before requesting lot rental assistance
251 under this section.

252 (2) The homeowner ~~or tenant~~ must reside full time and exclusively in the manufactured home in the
253 manufactured home community, and the manufactured home must be the homeowner's ~~or tenant's~~ only residence.

254 (3) ~~The lot rent, excluding utility charges and other charges, fees, and assessments that are part of the services~~
255 ~~rider required under § 7008(a)(9) of this title, must exceed 30% of the income definition, as stated in the Delaware~~
256 ~~State Housing Authority Fact Book (DSHA Fact Book), or its successor document, for~~ The total income of the
257 homeowner and all occupants is equal to or less than 40% of the county median income, as determined by the United
258 ~~States Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) for the county median income limits based upon 40%~~
259 ~~of the county's median income for the number of residents in the home. For purposes of this section, "income"~~

260 includes the income of all occupants of the manufactured home, whether or not an occupant is a tenant, and of all
261 tenants of the manufactured home, whether or not a tenant is an occupant. Development.

262 (4)a. The total liquid assets, ~~including but not limited to~~ assets of the homeowner and all occupants do not
263 exceed \$50,000.

264 b. For purposes of this section, liquid assets include bank accounts, stocks, and ~~bonds of the homeowner~~
265 ~~or homeowners, tenant or tenants, and other residents, may not exceed \$50,000.~~ bonds.

266 (5) The ~~homeowner, tenant, and other residents~~ homeowner and occupants must provide to the community
267 owner all documentation necessary to determine eligibility for lot rental assistance, such as bank records, eligibility
268 letters, tax returns, and brokerage statements.

269 (6) The ~~homeowner, tenant, and other residents~~ homeowner, occupants, and the manufactured home must be
270 in substantial compliance with all manufactured home community rules, regulations, and standards.

271 (b) The ~~homeowner, tenant,~~ homeowner and ~~other residents~~ occupants may not be recipients of any other rental
272 assistance funding.

273 (c) ~~Lot~~ A rental assistance ~~or rent~~ credit received by a homeowner ~~or tenant pursuant to~~ under this section is not
274 transferable upon the sale of the manufactured home or the transfer of the rental agreement to a third-party purchaser. If a
275 rental agreement is transferred under § 7013 of this title, thereafter the transferee must pay the full amount of rent due under
276 the lease.

277 (d) ~~A homeowner or tenant who qualifies for lot rental assistance under subsection (a) of this section is entitled to~~
278 ~~lot rental assistance for a term of 1 year. Lot rental assistance for a qualified homeowner or tenant is a credit which is~~
279 ~~computed as the difference between the then-current~~ current lot rent and 30% of the income ~~definition for the county~~
280 ~~median income, as stated in the DSHA Fact Book for the number of residents in the home; provided, however, as calculated~~
281 under subsection (a) of this section so that the lot rent for an eligible homeowner ~~or tenant~~ after application of a lot rental
282 assistance credit may does not exceed 30% of the homeowner's income ~~definition for the county median income, as stated~~
283 ~~in the DSHA Fact Book for the number of residents in the home.~~ under paragraph (a)(3) of this section.

284 (e) ~~The homeowner or tenant has the responsibility to reestablish annually eligibility for lot rental assistance if that~~
285 ~~homeowner or tenant believes that the homeowner or tenant remains eligible for lot rental assistance. The homeowner or~~
286 ~~tenant must reestablish eligibility within 45 days immediately before the anniversary date of the prior determination of~~
287 ~~eligibility.~~ [Transferred to § 7022A of Title 25.]

288 (f)(1) ~~A community owner who is required to participate in the lot rental assistance program shall provide notice~~
289 ~~of the program to all homeowners and tenants in the community, and shall provide, under paragraph (f)(2)a. or (f)(2)b. of~~

290 this section, renewal notices to all program participants at least 45 days before a participant's term of assistance expires. If
291 the community owner does not provide a renewal notice, the lot rental assistance credit remains in effect until 45 days after
292 the community owner provides notice. Upon receiving notice, a homeowner or tenant has 45 days to reestablish program
293 eligibility by providing necessary documents and information to the community owner. If the homeowner or tenant fails to
294 reestablish eligibility within 45 days of notice, the community owner may terminate the lot rental assistance credit.

295 [Transferred to § 7022A of Title 25.]

296 (2)a. Unless otherwise specified, renewal notice required by this subsection may be served personally upon a
297 homeowner or tenant of a manufactured home community by leaving a copy of the notice at the homeowner's or
298 tenant's dwelling place with an adult person who resides therein.

299 b. In lieu of personal service, renewal notice required by this subsection may be sent by regular first class
300 mail with proof of mailing or by certified mail, return receipt requested, to the homeowner or tenant at the address
301 of the homeowner's or tenant's rented lot, or at an alternative address which the homeowner or tenant provided in
302 writing to the community owner. [Repealed.]

303 (g) During the period of any lot rental assistance, a homeowner or tenant must remain current with payment of rent
304 after the application of the lot rental assistance credit, as well as with payment of utility fees and other charges and
305 assessments. If the homeowner or tenant does not pay all lot rent after the application of the lot rental assistance credit, as
306 well as pay utility fees and other charges and assessments on or before the due date or during the grace period provided
307 under the law or otherwise, then the lot rental assistance credit may be immediately terminated upon notice, and the
308 homeowner or tenant will not be eligible for further lot rental assistance. [Transferred to § 7022A of Title 25.]

309 (h) A homeowner or tenant receiving lot rental assistance credit must notify the community owner immediately of
310 any substantial change in that homeowner's or tenant's financial situation or in the composition of the household.

311 [Transferred to § 7022A of Title 25.]

312 (i) Any intentional misrepresentation by an applicant of that applicant's financial situation or living arrangements
313 which, if the truth were known, would have resulted in the denial of lot rental assistance shall result in the immediate
314 termination of all lot rental assistance, and an immediate obligation to reimburse all credits received under the lot rental
315 assistance program to the point of the initial misrepresentation. A community owner may treat the amounts due and owing
316 as a rent delinquency. [Transferred to § 7022A of Title 25.]

317 (j) A community owner shall treat all documents and information submitted for the lot rental assistance program as
318 confidential and may not disclose the documents or information publicly or use them in any manner other than to determine
319 eligibility under the lot rental assistance program. Any intentional public dissemination of confidential information

320 provided pursuant to the lot rental assistance program is subject to civil relief which is reasonable and appropriate under
321 Delaware law. [Transferred to § 7022A of Title 25.]

322 (k) Nothing in this section prohibits the owner of a manufactured home community from offering a lot rental
323 assistance program that provides benefits ~~over and above~~ greater than the benefits ~~set forth in~~ under this section, or that
324 extends eligibility for participation in the program.

325 (l) ~~The provisions of this section do not apply~~ This section applies to a manufactured home community ~~with 25 or~~
326 ~~fewer~~ if the community has more than 25 manufactured home lots; ~~provided, however, that~~ lots. However, an owner of
327 ~~such~~ a manufactured home community with 25 or fewer manufactured home lots may voluntarily offer a lot rental
328 assistance program to the homeowners ~~and tenants of~~ in the community.

329 (m) For the purpose of benefiting persons aged 62 and older, this section establishes a narrow exception to the
330 prohibition against housing discrimination on the basis of “age” under § 5116 of this title and the Delaware Fair Housing
331 Act, Chapter 46 of Title 6, otherwise known as Delaware’s Fair Housing Act [§ 4600 et seq. of Title 6]. 6.

332 § 7022A. Lot rental assistance program; requirements.

333 (a) Community owners and homeowners must comply with the requirements under this section for lot rental
334 assistance programs under § 7022 or § 7022B of this title.

335 (b)(1) A community owner shall annually provide written notice of the lot rental assistance program to all
336 homeowners in the community.

337 (2) After 1 year, a community owner may require a homeowner receiving lot rental assistance to reestablish
338 eligibility for lot rental assistance. If a community owner requires a homeowner to reestablish eligibility for lot rental
339 assistance, the community owner shall provide written notice to the homeowner at least 60 days before the first day of
340 the month that full rent will be due if the lot rental assistance credit is terminated. A notice under this paragraph (b)(2)
341 of this section is not a notice of a rent increase under § 7051 of this title, but must comply with § 7015 of this title and
342 include all of the following:

343 a. The date by which the homeowner must reestablish program eligibility under paragraph (b)(3) of this
344 section.

345 b. The date that the full amount of rent will be due if the homeowner does not reestablish program
346 eligibility.

347 c. The amount of rent that will be due without the lot rental assistance credit.

348 (3) A community owner shall provide a homeowner with at least 45 days, from the date of the notice under
349 paragraph (b)(2) of this section, to reestablish program eligibility by providing necessary documents and information to
350 the community owner.

351 (4) If the homeowner fails to reestablish eligibility under paragraph (b)(3) of this section, the community
352 owner may terminate the lot rental assistance credit under paragraph (b)(2) of this section.

353 (5) A community owner may not terminate a lot rental assistance credit without providing notice and the
354 opportunity to reestablish eligibility under this subsection (b) of this section.

355 (c) If the homeowner does not pay all lot rent due after the lot rental assistance credit, utility fees, or other charges
356 and assessments on or before the due date or during the grace period, the lot rental assistance credit may be immediately
357 terminated upon notice of the delinquency, and the homeowner is not eligible for further lot rental assistance.

358 (d) A homeowner receiving lot rental assistance credit must notify the community owner immediately of any
359 substantial change in that homeowner's financial situation or in the composition of the household.

360 (e) If a homeowner intentionally misrepresents the homeowner's financial situation or living arrangements that
361 would have resulted in the denial of lot rental assistance, all lot rental assistance terminates immediately, and the
362 homeowner has an immediate obligation to reimburse all credits received under the lot rental assistance program from the
363 point of the initial misrepresentation. A community owner may treat the amounts due and owing as a rent delinquency.

364 (f) A community owner shall treat all documents and information submitted for the lot rental assistance program as
365 confidential and may not disclose the documents or information publicly or use them in any manner other than to determine
366 eligibility under the lot rental assistance program. Any intentional public dissemination of confidential information
367 provided under the lot rental assistance program is subject to civil relief which is reasonable and appropriate under
368 Delaware law.

369 § 7022B. Lot rental assistance program; limited eligibility.

370 (a)(1) A community owner shall provide lot rental assistance under this section if a manufactured home
371 community has more than 25 manufactured home lots.

372 (2) This section does not prohibit a community owner from doing any of the following:

373 a. Offering a lot rental assistance program in a manufactured home community with 25 or fewer
374 manufactured home lots.

375 b. Offering a lot rental assistance program that provides benefits greater than the benefits under this
376 section.

377 c. Expanding eligibility for participation in a lot rental assistance program.

378 (b) A homeowner is eligible for lot rental assistance under this section if all of the following apply:

379 (1) The lot rent increase takes effect on or after [the effective date of this Act].

380 (2) The homeowner meets the qualifications under subsection (c) of this section.

381 (3) The homeowner and other occupants do not receive any other rental assistance funding.

382 (c) A homeowner in a manufactured home community who is eligible for Social Security Disability or

383 Supplemental Security Income benefits or who is 62 years of age or older is eligible for lot rental assistance from the

384 manufactured home community owner if the homeowner meets all of the following criteria:

385 (1) The homeowner must have owned the manufactured home or resided in the home in the manufactured
386 home community for the 5 consecutive years before requesting lot rental assistance under this section.

387 (2) The homeowner must reside full time and exclusively in the manufactured home in the manufactured
388 home community, and the manufactured home must be the homeowner's only residence.

389 (3) A homeowner qualifies for limited lot rental assistance if the total income of the homeowner and all
390 occupants is greater than 40% and below 55% of the county median household income, as determined by the United
391 States Department of Housing and Urban Development.

392 (4) The total assets of the homeowner and all occupants do not exceed \$50,000. For purposes of this section,
393 "total assets" means all of the following:

394 a. All liquid assets, including bank accounts, stocks, and bonds.

395 b. The total amount of excess lien paydowns against the manufactured home during the previous 5 years
396 that exceed the scheduled amortization of the lien balance.

397 (5) The homeowner and occupants must provide to the community owner all documentation necessary to
398 determine eligibility for lot rental assistance, such as bank records, eligibility letters, tax returns, and brokerage
399 statements.

400 (6) The homeowner, occupants, and the manufactured home must be in substantial compliance with all
401 manufactured home community rules, regulations, and standards.

402 (d) If eligible under this section, the homeowner's lot rental assistance is a limit on the amount of the rent increase,
403 which is calculated by reducing the homeowner's rent as follows:

404 (1) Multiplying the amount of the rent increase as follows:

405 a. If the median household income is greater than 40% and below 42%, by 24.25%.

406 b. If the median household income is equal to or greater than 42% and below 44%, by 38.5%.

407 c. If the median household income is equal to or greater than 44% and below 46%, by 52.75%.

- 408 d. If the median household income is equal to or greater than 46% and below 48%, by 67.00%.
409 e. If the median household income is equal to or greater than 48% and below 50%, by 81.25%.
410 f. If the median household income is equal to or greater than 50% and below 52%, by 85.50%.
411 g. If the median household income is equal to or greater than 52% and below 55%, by 95.50%.

412 (2) A homeowner's rent increase under this section is the greater of the amount calculated under paragraph
413 (d)(1) of this section or 1.5% of the amount of the rent increase.

414 (e) For the purpose of benefiting persons aged 62 and older, this section establishes a narrow exception to the
415 prohibition against housing discrimination on the basis of "age" under § 5116 of this title and the Delaware Fair Housing
416 Act, Chapter 46 of Title 6.

417 (f) A lot rental assistance credit received by a homeowner under this section is not transferable upon the sale of the
418 manufactured home or the transfer of the rental agreement to a third-party purchaser. If a rental agreement is transferred
419 under § 7013 of this title, thereafter the transferee must pay the full amount of rent due under the lease.

420 Section 8. Amend Subchapter I, Chapter 3, Title 9 of the Delaware Code by making deletions as shown by strike
421 through and insertions as shown by underline as follows:

422 § 321. Notice of violation; manufactured home community.

423 If a county government finds a violation of a health or safety provision or requirement, adopted by the county
424 government, in a manufactured home community, the county government must send a copy of the notice of the violation to
425 all of the following:

426 (1) The State Representatives and Senators in whose district the violation occurred.

427 (2) The Department of Justice.

428 (3) The Delaware Manufactured Home Relocation Authority.

429 Section 9. Amend § 122, Title 16 of the Delaware Code by making deletions as shown by strike through and
430 insertions as shown by underline as follows:

431 § 122. Powers and duties of the Department of Health and Social Services.

432 The Department shall have the following general powers and duties:

433 (3) Adopt, promulgate, amend, and repeal regulations consistent with law, which regulations shall not extend,
434 modify or conflict with any law of this State or the reasonable implications thereof, and which shall be enforced by all
435 state and local public health officials, to do all of the following:

436 c. Provide for the sanitary protection of all drinking water supplies which are furnished to and used by the
437 public, including the establishment of primary maximum contaminant levels, operational requirements and public

438 notice requirements. Primary maximum contaminant levels mean a maximum contaminant level which involves a
439 biological, chemical or physical characteristic of drinking water that may adversely affect the health of the
440 consumer.

441 6. Drinking water contaminant notification. — A. As used in this section, “Drinking water
442 contaminant” means any physical chemical, biological or radiological substance or matter in drinking water,
443 the presence of which is confirmed by 2 or more samples taken at the same location at different times, using
444 recognized practices and procedures, which substance exceeds the minimum drinking water quality standards
445 established in accordance with paragraph (3)c. of this section.

446 E. In accordance with the public notification timelines established ~~in~~ under paragraph ~~(3)e.7.C.~~
447 (3)c.6.C. of this section, the public drinking water supplier shall also provide the same notification to ~~the~~
448 all of the following:

449 I. The elected Council or Levy Court member or members of any municipality and/or the
450 county in which the contamination occurred, the State Representative(s) and Senator(s) occurred.

451 II. The elected Council members of the municipality in which the contamination occurred.

452 III. The State Representatives and Senators in whose district the contamination occurred,
453 and any occurred.

454 IV. Any community or civic group or individual that notifies the public drinking water
455 supplier that they desire to receive such information.

456 V. If the contamination occurred in a manufactured home community, the Department of
457 Justice and the Delaware Manufactured Home Relocation Authority.

458 Section 10. Amend § 8003A, Title 29 of the Delaware Code by making deletions as shown by strike through and
459 insertions as shown by underline as follows:

460 § 8003A. Powers, duties and functions of law-enforcement officers of the Department of Natural Resources and
461 Environmental Control.

462 (a) The law-enforcement officers of the Department of Natural Resources and Environmental Control shall see to
463 the enforcement of all laws, regulations, rules, permits, licenses, ~~orders~~ orders, and program requirements of the
464 Department of Natural Resources and Environmental Control.

465 (b) Law-enforcement officers of the Department of Natural Resources and Environmental Control shall have
466 police powers similar to those of constables, peace ~~officers~~ officers, and other police officers when enforcing the laws,
467 regulations, rules, permits, licenses, ~~orders~~ orders, and program requirements of the Department of Natural Resources and

468 Environmental Control. Such police powers shall ~~include, but not be limited to,~~ include powers of investigation, search,
469 seizure, ~~detention~~ detention, and arrest conferred by law on constables, peace ~~officers~~ officers, and other police officers.

470 (c) Law-enforcement officers of the Department of Natural Resources and Environmental Control ~~shall~~ have the
471 authority to serve and return summonses, ~~subpoenas~~ subpoenas, and warrants.

472 (d) Nothing contained in this section ~~shall~~ may be construed to limit the statutory enforcement authorities,
473 ~~responsibilities~~ responsibilities, or powers of enforcement personnel of the Department of Natural Resources and
474 Environmental Control.

475 (e) If a law-enforcement officer of the Department of Natural Resources and Environmental Control finds that a
476 violation of a requirement under the Department of Natural Resources and Environmental Control occurs in a manufactured
477 home community, the Department of Natural Resources and Environmental Control must send a copy of the notice of the
478 violation, summons, or order to all of the following:

479 (1) The elected Council or Levy Court members of the county in which the violation occurred.

480 (2) The elected Council members of the municipality in which the violation occurred.

481 (3) The State Representatives and Senators in whose district the violation occurred.

482 (4) The Department of Justice.

483 (5) The Delaware Manufactured Home Relocation Authority.

484 Section 11. This Act takes effect on the first day of the month following its enactment into law.

SYNOPSIS

This Act is identical to Senate Substitute No. 1 to Senate Bill No. 9, which establishes new formulas that a community owner is allowed use to increase rent in a manufactured home community. The requirements under this Act will be in effect for 5 years, during which time the current requirements for rent increases in manufactured home communities will be suspended.

Under current law, rent increases in manufactured home communities have frequently been the subject of arbitration hearings and lengthy court cases. This Act seeks to dramatically reduce or eliminate these disputes by providing a choice of 3 methods that a community owner can use to establish the amount of a rent increase. In addition, when rent is increased based on 1 of the new calculations, this Act establishes clear standards and requirements, including documentation that requirements have been satisfied.

This Act applies to rent increases when notice is provided beginning the 1st day of the month following its enactment into law, and remains in effect until 5 years after its enactment.

Under § 7052 of Title 25, rent in a manufactured home community can be increased in an amount greater than the percentage increase of the Consumer Price Index for All Urban Consumers (CPI-U) for the preceding 36 months if there have not been health or safety violations that persisted for more than 15 days, the rent increase is directly related to operating, maintaining, or improving the manufactured home community, and the rent increase is justified by 1 or more of the factors listed, which include capital improvements, changes in taxes, utility charges, insurance costs, operating and maintenance expenses, repairs, and market rent. Rent increases under § 7052 are subject to additional requirements and the dispute resolution process under § 7053 of Title 25. Under this Act, § 7052 will not apply to rent increases while the new methods for calculating rent increases are in effect.

Under this Act, a community owner may increase rent based upon the increase in the CPI-U for the preceding 24 months, based on market rent, or by agreement with a homeowner for a period of more than 1 year. In addition, a

community owner may increase rent based upon the increase in the cost of specific expenses. Increases based on market rent or these additional expenses are subject to the requirements and dispute resolution process under § 7053.

This Act requires that in order to increase rent, there cannot have been a health or safety violation that continued for more than 15 days as calculated under § 7051A of Title 25 or if there is a health or safety violation, the community owner must provide a surety bond or letter of credit in an amount sufficient to fund 100% of the rent increase in addition to written documentation of how the violation will be corrected by a specified date. If the violation is not corrected by that date, the surety bond or letter of credit will be used to refund the rent increase to homeowners. This Act also creates a limited eligibility lot rental assistance program for homeowners whose incomes are between 40% and 55% of the county median household income that applies to rent increases.

Specifically, this Act does all of the following:

Section 1. Moves definitions of the terms “CPI-U” and “market rent” to § 7003 of Title 25 because the terms are used in more than 1 section. This Act also updates the definition of “CPI-U” to reference the Philadelphia-Camden-Wilmington region.

Section 2. Adds detailed notice requirements to § 7051 of Title 25 that require written notice of a rent increase at least 90 days, but not more than 120 days, before the first day the increased amount of rent is due and that this notice must be sent to each affected homeowner, the homeowners’ association, if one exists, and the Delaware Manufactured Home Relocation Authority (DEHMRA).

Section 3. Revises § 7052 so that it applies to rent increases that occurred or were noticed between the date § 7052 was enacted and the effective date of this Act. It makes corresponding changes to the subsection designations and repeals the definition of “market rent” because that definition will be in § 7003.

Section 4. Establishes the requirements for rent increases for the 5 years after this Act takes effect, by creating the following:

- § 7051A of Title 25, which establishes the prerequisites regarding health or safety violations that must be satisfied before rent can be increased including the requirement that if a health or safety violation has continued for more than 15 days as calculated under § 7051A of Title 25, the community owner must not only document that the violation will be correct by a specific date within 1 year, but must provide DEHMRA with a surety bond or letter of credit in an amount sufficient to fund 100% of the rent increase. If the violation is not corrected by that date, the surety bond or letter of credit will be used to refund the rent increase to homeowners. This Act clarifies that “violation” includes requirements under federal, state, or county laws and that if the community owner does not correct the specified date, the rent increase does not take effect.

- Creates § 7052A of Title 25, which establishes the following 3 ways that a community owner may establish a base rent increase:

1. Based upon the increase in the CPI-U for the preceding 24 months.
2. Based on market rent
3. By agreement with a homeowner for a period of more than 1 year.

- This Act also clarifies that § 7052A continues to apply to rent increased under the section after the section sunsets, revises the definition of the “24-month CPI-U” to mirror the language in § 7053 of Title 25, and clarifies the language explaining the rent increase calculation if based on a 24-month CPI-U that is equal to or below 7%.

- Creates § 7052B of Title 25, which establishes the requirements under which a community owner may add an additional rent increase to an increase under § 7052A. The requirements include the specific allowed expenses that can be the basis of an additional rent increase, the time periods that are used in the calculations, the calculation used to determine if an additional rent increase is permitted, and how the dollar amount of an additional rent increase is calculated. A community owner must provide documentation of the cost of each of the allowed expenses on a website and must provide paper copies for review at the management office and upon request by a homeowner.

Section 5. Makes the following corresponding changes to § 7053:

1. Repeals notice provisions that will be in § 7051 and applicable to all rent increases in manufactured home communities.

2. States that this section is applicable to rent increases under §§ 7052, 7052A(d), and 7052B of Title 25.

3. Revises subsection (j) so it includes the standards under §§ 7052A(d) and 7052B, if applicable.

Section 6. Makes a technical correction to § 7054 of Title 25 so that it references § 7053 of Title 25 where it provides the deadline to appeal a decision of an arbitrator.

Section 7. Revises the lot rental assistance program by doing the following:

- Revises § 7022 of Title 25, the current lot rental assistance program, by doing the following:

1. Expands eligibility by requiring residency in the home for 5 consecutive years, instead of prior to July 1, 2006.
2. Increasing eligibility to households with income that is equal to or less than 40% of the county median income, from the current 30%. This Act also updates which agency that determines the county median household income.
3. Repealing subsections that are being transferred to a new § 7022A of Title 25 because the provisions also apply to the new limited eligibility lot rental assistance program.
4. Making technical corrections to conform existing law to the standards of the Delaware Legislative Drafting Manual.

- Creates § 7022A of Title 25, which has the requirements that apply to the lot rental assistance programs under both §§ 7022 and 7022B of Title 25. These requirements are transferred from § 7022A with only technical corrections.

- Creates § 7022B of Title 25, which creates a limited eligibility lot rental assistance program for homeowners whose incomes are between 40% and 55% of the median household income that applies to rent increases. Under this program, a homeowner's rent is calculated on a sliding scale based on the amount of the household's income.

This Act also does all of the following:

1. Expands eligibility for the limited eligibility lot rental assistance program to lot rent increases that take effect after the effective date of this Act.
2. Revises the eligibility requirements to correct a drafting error.
3. Requires residency in the home for 5 consecutive years to be eligible.
4. Corrects which agency determines the county median household income.
5. Clarifies how rent is calculated under the limited eligibility lot rental assistance program.

Sections 8 through 10 require that if any of the following find a violation of a health or safety requirement in a manufactured home community, notice must be provided to local and state elected officials, the Department of Justice, and the Authority:

1. A county government.
2. The Department of Health and Social Services, for drinking water.
3. The Department of Natural Resources and Environmental Control.

In addition, Sections 8 through 10 make technical corrections to conform existing law to the standards of the Delaware Legislative Drafting Manual, including the correction of an internal reference in § 122(3)c.E. of Title 16.

Section 11. Makes this Act effective on the first day of the month following its enactment into law.

Author: Senator Walsh